




FROM: Andrea Imredy Saah, Esq., Senior Counsel

RE: Philadelphia Land Bank January 16, 2024 Board Meeting
Remote Board Meeting Notice, Public Attendance, and Comment Procedures

DATE: January 5, 2024

The next Meeting of the Board of Directors of the Philadelphia Land Bank ( Land Bank ) is
scheduled for Tuesday, January 16, 2024, with the Executive Session to begin at 9:30 A.M. and the
meeting to begin at 10:00 A.M or as soon as the Executive Session has ended. This meeting will be held
remotely using Zoom webinar. The meeting is open to public attendees and for public comments and
questions.

PLEASE NOTE: To participate in the meeting on your computer, you must register in advance. This
requirement is necessary to allow us to collect the names of participants as required by law. Using a
computer, tablet or smartphone, use the following link:

https://us02web.zoom.us/webinar/register/WN_uShnioX9SLuhXBEJVc4utQ

After registering, you will receive a confirmation email containing information about joining the webinar.
Members of the public who join before 10 A.M. will be given access when the meeting begins.
Webinar ID: 863 4196 8429; Passcode: 433530

To join the meeting by calling in, dial one of the following numbers:
+1 267 831 0333 or +1 301 715 8592 or +1 312 626 6799 or +1 929 205 6099 Passcode: 433530

The Board agenda and package will be available to view no later than five (5) days prior to the Board
meeting at https://phdcphila.org/who-we-are/boards/philadelphia-land-bank-board/. Public comment and
questions regarding the matters that are posted on the agenda may be submitted by email prior to the Board
meeting and/or in person if attending the Board meeting.

To submit questions or comments prior to the Board meeting, you must email the following
information to andrea.saah@phdc.phila.gov by 3:00 p.m. on Monday, January 15, 2024:

Your full name and group or company affiliation, if applicable;
Contact information (your email address);
Identify the agenda item that you are addressing; and
State your question/comment in a clear and concise manner.

Questions/comments submitted via email by the 3:00 pm deadline will be summarized at the Board meeting,
answered or addressed to the extent the Board chooses, and attached to the minutes of the meeting.

To submit questions or comments during the Board meeting when public comment on an agenda item
is requested by the Board Chair, use . You may
also submit your questions/comment using Do not use the Chat function for
questions or comments. The Board Chair may limit repetitious questions/comments. Q&A submissions will
be attached to the minutes of the meeting.

If possible, the Board meeting will be recorded and made publicly available within thirty (30) days. If you
have a question about an agenda item after the meeting concludes, please submit it as described above. To
the extent possible, it will be addressed by Land Bank staff or by the Board at the next meeting.



PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 1 of 133

PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK

DECEMBER 12, 2023 BOARDOF DIRECTORSMEETINGMINUTES (DRAFT)

A Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors of the Philadelphia Land Bank was held on Tuesday, December
12, 2023, via Zoom webinar, of which proper notices were given. A condensed certified transcript of this
meeting is attached to these minutes as Exhibit A.

Call to Order

Board Chair Anne Fadullon called the meeting to order at 10:02 a.m.

Andrea Imredy Saah, Senior Counsel, made the following announcements:

and is being recorded.
Questions and comments may be made using the Q&A raise hand function. If you
are calling in and not using the Zoom webinar link, you may ask questions or make comments by pressing *9
on your phone or using Chat function. If any member of the
public has any issues submitting questions or comments, please send an email to
Andrea.Saah@phdc.phila.gov. Please note that all questions and comments received by email prior to this
meeting or through the Q&A function during the meeting will be included in the minutes. All questions and
comments received by 3 pm yesterday were shared with the Board.

, the Board held an Executive Session during which Mr. Rodriguez
reviewed the agenda.

Item I
Roll Call

The following members of the Board of Directors reported present: Anne Fadullon, Alexander Balloon,
Andrew Goodman, Maria Gonzalez, Michael Johns, Michael Koonce, Majeedah Rashid, Mo Rushdy and
Rick Sauer.

The following Board members were absent: Rebecca Lopez Kriss.

The following Land Management staff members were present: Angel Rodriguez, Jessie Lawrence,
Andrea Imredy Saah, Esq., Robert Spence, Esq., Todd Hestand, Cristina Martinez, Brian Romano, Tracy
Pinson-Reviere, Mathen Pullukattu, and Carolyn Terry.

Public Attendees: The list of public attendees follow these minutes.

A quorum of Directors was present, and the meeting, having been duly convened, proceeded with
business.



PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 2 of 133

Item II
Approval of Board Minutes

Ms. Fadullon called for questions or comments from the Board regarding the minutes of the Board
meeting of November 14, 2023. There were none. Ms. Fadullon called for questions or comments from
the public. There were none.

Ms. Fadullon called for a motion regarding approval of the minutes.

Mr. Rushdy moved to approve the minutes. Mr. Balloon seconded the motion.

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously approved the November 14, 2023, Board
Meeting minutes.

Item III

Mr. Rodriguez reported that on Friday, December 4, 2023 there was a groundbreaking for the Pastor
Allen Project. It was gratifying, given that it took a while to get this project started because of multiple
revisions. This is a unique Turn the Key project (TTK) because it is the first time the Board approved
triplexes and duplexes for development.
event. It was meaningful for the congregation and those present.

There will be a ribbon cutting in Kensington on Williams Street on December 19, 2023. Details of the
event will be sent to the Board. This project is for fifteen (15) affordable homes that are approximately
85% complete. It is also a Turn The Key project that will soon be marketed.

Item IV
Administrative Matters

A. Approval of 2024 BoardMeeting Schedule

Ms. Imredy Saah stated that an updated and corrected proposed 2024 meeting schedule was posted on the
website but not sent to Board members. The schedule must be advertised in advance of the calendar year,
which makes it necessary for the schedule to be approved at this meeting. Meetings are generally held on
the 2nd Tuesday of each month, but in January and July the meetings will be held on the 3rd Tuesday.

Ms. Fadullon called for questions or comments from the Board. There were none, so Ms. Fadullon called
for a motion.

Ms. Rashid moved to approve the 2024 Board meeting schedule. Mr. Goodman seconded the motion.

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously approved the Resolution Adopting
Philadelphia Land Bank Schedule of Regular Board Of Directors Meetings For Calendar Year
2024 (attached to these minutes as Exhibit B).



PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 3 of 133

B. Review and Acceptance of Philadelphia Land Bank Audited Financial Statements for Year
Ending June 30, 2023

Mr. Rodriguez introduced the auditors from Mercadien: Digesh Patel, Matt Daly, and Phil Jutkiewicz.
Mr. Patel, A partner at Mercadien and responsible for overseeing the audit for the Land Bank, thanked the
staff who assist in the audit process. Mr. Patel prepared a PowerPoint presentation, which is attached to
these minutes as Exhibit C.

The 2023 audit covers financial statements ending June 30, 2023. The
result of the audit is the highest level of assurance that can
be received from a financial statement audit. Additionally, there were no findings. Findings would
include any noncompliance with laws, regulations, contracts and agreements.

Mr. Daly led the presentation of the financial highlights. The primary metrics, including cash,
receivables, land inventory, and liabilities, and net position were consistent with prior years. Under new
IRS accounting rules, t Million, with total revenues of
$11.4 Million and total expenditures of $3.3 Million. Mr. Daly offered three recommendations: (1) to
have Land Bank assets appraised independently each year, rather than value them at Office of Property
Assessment values; (2) to have a formal policy for any direct and indirect expenses that are allocated from
PHDC, which is the umbrella organization providing staff and services to the Land Bank; and (3) to have
a formal policy which would foster trend analysis and other internal evaluations prior to the year-end
audit and cleanup process by Land Bank management.

Ms. Fadullon called for questions and comments from the Board. Mr. Sauer, noting the $11 Million in
reported revenue, asked whether the revenue from PLB sales stays with the Land Bank or whether that
money is paid into to the City . Mr. Patel explained the GAAP accounting process for
land, which
recognized as revenue each year, even though there is no actual influx of cash. While there is recognized
revenue for accounting purposes based on there is no

Mr. Johns asked about the actual income from land sales. Mr. Rodriguez responded that the income from
sales in Fiscal Year 2023 was $329,000. On net, the Land Bank took a loss on the sales, as most Land
Bank sales are at a nominal or discounted price, and the appraised values of the properties conveyed was
approximately $9.8 million. The Land Bank does not profit from land sales. Mr. Rushdy asked if the
inventory value was based on the appraised value. Mr. Patel explained that the OPA assessment is used
to value assets in the inventory, but the OPA value may or may not be reflective of the fair market value,
and the value of each property is revalued at the appraised value when the property is sold. The full
discussion of property valuation between Mr. Rushdy, Mr. Rodriguez, and Mr. Patel can be found at
pages 17 to 19 of the attached transcript.

Ms. Fadullon repeated a question from the chat, asking what the revenue from land sales was. Mr.
Rodriguez responded that the Land Bank received approximately $330,000 in cash from the sales.

Ms. Fadullon called for a motion from the Board.

Mr. Rushdy moved to accept the audited financial statements. Mr. Balloon seconded the motion.



PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 4 of 133

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously approved the Resolution Accepting
Philadelphia Land Bank Audited Financial Statements For Year Ending June 30, 2023 (attached to
these minutes as Exhibit D).

C. Review and Approval of Philadelphia Land Bank Fiscal Year 2024 Budget; Financial Report
Year to Date

Mr. Rodriguez shared his screen with the comparison of the FY 2023 and 2024 budgets, a copy of which
is attached to these minutes as Exhibit E. Operating revenue,

d from $3.14 Million to $3.5 Million. The increase was used to cover the
. Expenses are largely unchanged, and Mr. Rodriguez concluded that the

Land Bank expenses are generally on par from last year. full comments are located on
pages 21 to 23 of the attached transcript.

Mr. Goodman requested clarity regarding land maintenance costs, and Mr. Rodriguez confirmed that
there was an incremental increase in maintenance, but the changes to the budget were largely a function
of allocations to different programs.

Ms. Fadullon called for a motion from the Board regarding the Fiscal Year 2024 budget.

Mr. Koonce moved to adopt the proposed budget. Ms. Gonzalez seconded the motion.

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously approved the Resolution Adopting
Philadelphia Land Bank Operating Budget For Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2024 (attached to these
minutes as Exhibit F).

D. Amendment to Approved Disposition

Ms. Fadullon introduced the next item, an amendment to Resolution No. 2022-39 adopted by the Board
on October 11, 2022, which amended Resolution No. 2021-52 adopted by the Board on November 9,
2021, to approve revised plans for the approved development.

Mr. Rushdy announced that he was recusing himself from this item because he is a part of the ownership
structure of the developer, which presents a conflict of interest. A copy of his recusal letter is attached to
these minutes as Exhibit G. Mr. Rushdy left the meeting.

Mr. Lawrence presented the proposed amendment. The approved mixed-income project included forty-
one (41) single family homes, and twenty-two of the homes would be affordable units. The plan revision
was requested due to the difficulty of building single-family homes on parcels zoned CMX-2.5 on
Kensington Avenue, which were originally intended to hold four (4) single-family homes to be sold at or
below 100% of Area Median Income (AMI). The proposal is to allow the developer to build eight (8)
market-rate rental units and two (2) commercial units in two structures on those four parcels, and, in
exchange, the developer will make seven (7) of the single-family market-rate homeownership units
available at or below 100% AMI. This will result in a net increase of three (3) homes to be sold at or
below 100% AMI. The plan revision meets the requirements of the disposition policy and will allow for a
by-right mixed- use residential development on the four (4) parcels which are currently zoned as CMX-
2.5. The affordable units will remain affordable for a period of at least 15 years.



PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 5 of 133

Ms. Fadullon reiterated the project is being amended to conform with the existing zoning and to increase
affordability.

Ms. Fadullon called for questions or comments from the Board. Ms. Gonzalez requested clarity regarding
the affordable units. Mr. Lawrence responded there is a net gain of three (3) more affordable units. Mr.
Rodriguez provided further clarification
zoning on Kensington necessitated the proposed modifications. There will be a mix of 80% and 100%
AMI units, and all the homes are qualified for Turn the Key.

Mr. Johns asked if the plans in the packet are market-rate or affordable units. Mr. Lawrence responded
that they are for the proposed market-rate rental units. Mr. Johns then asked about the intentions for the
third-floor unit at 2653 Kensington. Ms. Imredy Saah stated it is a studio unit. Mr. Johns then noted the
single-family unit plans are not in the Board packet. Mr. Lawrence responded that this is correct, and the
floor plans and elevations for the affordable units did not change from the previous approval.

Ms. Fadullon asked if comments were received from the public prior to the Board meeting. Ms. Imredy
Saah stated there were none.

Ms. Fadullon called for questions or comments from the public. Adrienne Fernandez from Swampoodle
Neighborhood Parcels Association, an RCO in North Central Philadelphia, stated her opinion that the
homes are too expensive.

Ms. Tiffany Green from Concerned Citizens of Point Breeze, an RCO in South Philadelphia, also believes
the $280,000 homes are too expensive but prices are lower than market rate prices. Ms. Green stated the
City should buy down the price to $170,000 to $180,000 to increase participation.

Ms. Fadullon called for a motion regarding the proposed plan changes for the Kensington Avenue
properties included in the project.

Mr. Koonce moved to approve the proposed revisions to the project. Mr. Balloon seconded the motion.

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously approved Resolution Amending
Resolutions 2022-39 And 2021-52 to Authorize Modification Of Mixed-Income Homeownership
Development to Mixed-Income Mixed-Use Development And Revision Of Unit Mix (attached to
these minutes as Exhibit H).

Item V
Property Dispositions

A. Development Affordable Housing (unsolicited)

Mr. Rushdy rejoined the meeting at this time.

Item A(1)

Mr. Lawrence convey 2502, 2503, 2542, 2552 and 2559 North 28th
Street in Strawberry Mansion in the 5th Council District to Soar City Development for the construction of
five (5) single family homeownership units. Each unit will be two (2) stories with three (3) bedrooms and
will have a maximum sales price of $280,000 and target purchasers at or below 100% AMI. The



PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 6 of 133

application was unsolicited and evaluated pursuant to the disposition policy. The developer will purchase
the properties for a total price of $5,000. Evidence of project financing was provided. The applicant is
compliant and in good standing with the City of Philadelphia. The project will require an Economic
Opportunity Plan and will be subject to an irrevocable power of attorney and right of re-entry and reverter
restrictions. The units will be subject to use restrictions and income verification requirements to ensure
the units remain affordable for at least 15 years.

Ms. Fadullon called for questions or comments from the Board. Mr. Johns commented on the design of
the houses. The design has a first-floor bedroom, and the only way to access the backyard is through that
bedroom. The owner will need to walk through the bedroom to take their trash out, as trash is located in
the backyard. Mr. Johns also stated that not enough living space exists outside of the bedrooms, and that
the plans do not include a dedicated dining space. Mr. Johns believes the Board needs to consider the
plans and how they will affect the people who will live there.

Ms. Gonzalez . Ms. Gonzalez wants to
see stability in communities and believes that decent, affordable housing can build stability and should be
mindful of the purchasers needs.

Mr. Koonce stated his lack of support for the disposition because of what he believed to be a lack of
community input, and he asked the Land Bank to do a better job with community input. Mr. Rushdy
asked Mr. Rodriguez to clarify the community input requirement. Mr. Rodriguez stated the requirements
provided to developers and clarified that documentation that the requirements have been met is returned
to Land Bank staff for review. Mr. Rushdy then asked if the applicant reached out to the RCOs identified
by the Land Bank. Mr. Lawrence responded that the applicant stated that they reached out to those RCOs.
Mr. Rushdy asked if the applicant has met the requirements as defined by the Land Bank. Mr. Lawrence
stated the requirements were met.

Mr. Sauer asked if there is a requirement that properties eligible for TTK mortgages all have 3 bedrooms
or if 2-bedroom units are eligible. Mr. Rodriguez responded that 2-bedroom units are eligible, but fewer
bedrooms will reduce the sales price. Mr. Koonce questioned one of the included floor plans, and Mr.
Lawrence stated that final plans would be site dependent, as the properties are different sizes. Mr.
Goodman asked how the application was reviewed procedurally. Mr. Lawrence responded that the
review was for 3-bedroom, 2-bath units.

Ms. Fadullon asked if any correspondence was received prior to the Board meeting. Ms. Imredy Saah
received several letters, and all letters are attached to the minutes as Exhibit I. The first letter was from
Troy Smith, who requested to acquire 2552 N. 28th Street as a side yard to his adjacent home. The
second letter was from Bonita Cummings of Strawberry Mansion Community Concern. Ms. Cummings
requested that the development be held or tabled. An email was also received from Adrienne Fernandez
from Swampoodle Neighborhood Parcels Association who requested that the application be placed on
hold and that additional meetings be scheduled.

Ms. Imredy Saah stated that a large number of similar letters supporting the application were received and
read one representative letter. The letter stated that the applicant participated in Philly RISE, which aims
to increase minority participation in development and improve neighborhoods in Philadelphia, and that

. Letters of support were received from David Mercuris, from
Goldenberg Management, Inc.; Raj Patel; Kevin Moran, from ULI Philadelphia; Varsovia Fernandez,
from PA CDFI Network; James Burnett, from VestedIn; Anne Cummins, from Gattuso Development
Partners; Precious Samuel, from Samuel Consultancy Group; Christopher Pitt, from Pitt Pass



PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 7 of 133

Development Group; Candis Pressley, from Trinity Property Advisors; David Langlieb, from
Philadelphia Accelerator Fund; Larry J. Griffin, from Beech Capital Venture Corporation; Kevin
Williams, from Black Squirrel Collaborative; Maleda Berhane, from AR Spruce; Jacqueline Buhn;
Damian Smith, from Smith Property Works; Mark Lawson, from Diversified Realty Solutions; Reco
Owens, from Neighborhood Progress Fund; Brian Murray, from Shift Capital; and Alan Razak.

Ms. Fadullon called for comments from the public. Judith Robinson was the first caller and requested

-55 of the attached transcript. Bonita
Cummings from Strawberry Mansion Community Concern acknowledged that a community meeting had
occurred, but that the community was not satisfied with the project. Ms. Cummings requested that the
application be tabled. Her full comments can be found on pages 55-60 of the attached transcript.

Ibrahim Campell, owner of Soar City, stated that he personally delivered the community meeting notices
and that a community meeting did occur. The project was described in full to the community, and the
plans were modified in response to the community feedback. David Langlieb from the Philadelphia
Accelerator Fund then spoke in support of the project. Kevin Williams from Black Squirrel Collaborative
stated his support for the project and described the resources his organization provides to developers. The
program helps developers work with RCOs when feasible. Adrienne Fernandez from Swampoodle
Neighborhood Parcels Association expressed her dissatisfaction with Land Bank community notification
processes and requested that the project be tabled. Her full comments can be found on pages 66 to 73 of
the attached transcript.

Ms. Fadullon called for a motion regarding the disposition.

Mr. Rushdy moved to approve the disposition. Mr. Balloon seconded the motion.

Mr. Rushdy, Mr. Balloon, and Ms. Fadullon voted to approve the disposition. Mr. Sauer, Ms. Rashid, Mr.
Goodman, Mr. Koonce, Mr. Johns, and Ms. Gonzalez voted against the disposition. By a 6-3 vote, the
disposition was rejected.

Mr. Sauer then moved to request that the developer submit a revised application which addresses the
concerns raised, including community meetings and design. Ms. Gonzalez seconded the motion.

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously voted to request the developer to address
the concerns which were raised, including community meetings and plan design, and resubmit the
proposal for consideration by the Board.

Item A(2)

convey 2409, 2413, 2416, 2418, and 2443 North 19th
Street in North Philadelphia in the 5th Council District to 215 Development Corporation to develop five
(5) single-family affordable homeownership units that will be sold to households with incomes at or
below 100% AMI. Each unit will be two (2) stories with three (3) bedrooms and will have a maximum
sales price of $280,000, targeting purchasers at or below 100% AMI. The application was unsolicited and
evaluated pursuant to the disposition policy. The developer will purchase the properties for $5,000.
Evidence of project financing has been provided. The applicant is compliant and in good standing with
the City of Philadelphia. The project will require an Economic Opportunity Plan and will be subject to an
irrevocable power of attorney and right of re-entry and reverter restrictions. The units will be subject to



PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 8 of 133

use restrictions and income verification requirements to ensure the units remain affordable for at least 15
years.

Mr. Johns, noting the layout in the plans were the same as for the previous item, reiterated his concerns
about the viability of the units with the 3-bedroom layouts. Mr. Rushdy responded that the Board must
consider the subsidy available and how to maximize the impact of those funds. These homes offer
purchasers an opportunity otherwise unavailable to them, and while bigger homes would be preferable,
the realities of the market dictate the limits of what can be built. Mr. Johns stated that better layouts are
possible even within the financial and market constraints. Mr. Rushdy agreed better designs may be
possible, but the Board should recognize its role in the overall process and not lose sight of the big picture
goals. Ms. Gonzalez stated the Board should support projects that meet the needs of families today, and
space is at a premium. Mr. Rushdy stated that the target homebuyer is interested in these properties, and
failing to approve these projects continues to shut these purchasers out of the housing market.

Ms. Fadullon summarized the Board discussion and then asked if any correspondence was received prior
to the Board meeting. Ms. Imredy Saah stated that the same commenters who supported the earlier item
wrote in support of this disposition. The letters received are attached to the minutes as Exhibit J. Letters
of support were received from David Mercuris, from Goldenberg Management, Inc.; Alan Razak;
Jacqueline Buhn; Maleda Berhane, from AR Spruce; Larry J. Griffin, from Beech Capital Venture
Corporation; Kevin Williams, from Black Squirrel Collaborative; Reco Owens, from Neighborhood
Progress Fund; Mark Lawson, from Diversified Realty Solutions; Precious Samuel, from Samuel
Consultancy Group; Christopher Pitt, from Pitt Pass Development Group; David Langlieb, from
Philadelphia Accelerator Fund; Candis Pressley, from Trinity Property Advisors; Anne Cummins, from
Gattuso Development Partners; Raj Patel; James Burnett, from VestedIn; Damian Smith, from Smith
Property Works; Kevin Moran, from ULI Philadelphia; Varsovia Fernandez, from PA CDFI Network;
and Brian Murray, from Shift Capital.

Ms. Fadullon called for comments from the public. Judith Robinson spoke at length in opposition to the
disposition and criticizing the operations of the Land Bank. Ms. Robinson s full comments can be found
on pages 88 to 93 of the attached transcript.

Ugochukwu Opara, the owner of 215 Construction, responded to the design concerns raised, stating that
the attached plans were only preliminary and were submitted before the developer knew whether its
application for the lots was even viable. The plans, including the first-floor bedroom, have been adjusted
and can continue to be adjusted within the budget and lot size constraints.

Bonita Cummings from Strawberry Mansion Community Concern requested that the application be
rejected. Her full comments can be found on pages 96 to 99 of the attached transcript. Tiffany Green
from Concerned Citizens of Point Breeze expressed her opinion that architects on the Board are more
interested in the expressed her
disagreements with the financing of the Turn The Key mortgage program. Her full comments can be
found on pages 99 to 103 of the attached transcript.

Kevin Williams from Black Squirrel Collaborative expressed support for the project. Mr. Williams
described the Philadelphia RISE and Black Squirrel programs and their goals for spurring minority-led
development in Philadelphia, and confirmed that they want to work with RCOs and incorporate their
feedback when feasible. The next speaker was David Langlieb
project and pointed out that financial realities facing developers need to be kept in mind when considering
the applications.



PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 9 of 133

Adrienne Fernandez from Swampoodle Neighborhood Parcels Association expressed her opinion that
design and land use issues are primary to all dispositions
on pages 107 to 112 of the attached transcript.

Ms. Fadullon called for a motion regarding the proposed disposition.

Mr. Rushdy moved to approve the disposition. Mr. Balloon seconded the motion.

Mr. Rushdy, Mr. Balloon, and Ms. Fadullon voted to approve the disposition. Mr. Sauer, Ms. Rashid, Mr.
Goodman, Mr. Koonce, Mr. Johns, and Ms. Gonzalez voted against the disposition. By a 6-3 vote, the
disposition was rejected.

Mr. Goodman then moved to request that the developer submit a revised application that addresses the
concerns raised. Mr. Johns seconded the motion.

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously voted to request the developer to address
the concerns which were raised and resubmit the proposal for consideration by the Board.

B. Development Community-Benefitting Use (unsolicited)

Mr. Goodman announced that he would be recusing himself from this item and the next. A copy of the
letter to the Board recusing himself from the agenda items is attached to these minutes as Exhibit K. Mr.
Goodman then left the meeting.

Mr. Lawrence requested approval to convey 4320 and 4322 Lancaster Avenue in the 3rd Council District
to Lancaster Avenue 21st Century Business Association (LA21), a non-profit organization, to develop a
five-story mixed-use commercial building. The 10,400 square foot facility will house spaces for ground
floor retail and a commissary kitchen, non-profit office operations, and business-oriented supportive
services. The application was unsolicited and evaluated pursuant to the disposition policy. The
disposition qualifies for a discounted purchase price of $10,000 due to its social impact component. The
project will require an Economic Opportunity Plan and will be subject to an irrevocable power of attorney
and right of re-entry and reverter restrictions. The property will have a permanent deed restriction placed
on it so that the property remains dedicated to community benefitting uses.

Ms. Fadullon called for questions or comments from the Board. There were none.

Ms. Fadullon asked if any correspondence was received prior to the Board meeting. Ms. Imredy Saah
stated none was received.

Ms. Fadullon called for comments from the public. Judith Robinson asked about who monitors the
economic development terms and stated her opposition to the approval process.

Jackie Williams, from Lancaster Avenue 21st Century Business Association, described the history of the
organization, the programs it offers, and the benefits of those programs.
can be found on pages 120 to 122 of the attached transcript.

Ms. Fadullon called for a motion regarding the proposed disposition.



PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 10 of 133

Mr. Koonce moved to approve the disposition. Mr. Johns seconded the motion.

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously approved Resolution Authorizing
Conveyance of 4320 and 4322 Lancaster Avenue to Lancaster Avenue 21st Century Business
Association (attached to these minutes as Exhibit L).

C. Development Gardens/Open Space (unsolicited)

Mr. Lawrence requested approval to convey 5906 and 5908 Market Street in the 3rd Council District to
ACHIEVEability, a nonprofit organization, to be stabilized as a community green space to engage local
youth. The application was unsolicited and evaluated pursuant to the disposition policy. The property
will be subject to a 30-year mortgage and permanently restricted for use as managed open space.

Ms. Fadullon called for questions or comments from the Board. Mr. Balloon asked if the use restriction
meant that the lot would permanently remain as open space on Market Street. Mr. Lawrence confirmed
that was true, but Ms. Fadullon noted that if there were a proposed alternate use, the Land Bank Board
could reconsider the proposal and modify the use restriction. Mr. Rodriguez confirmed that the use
restriction can be modified by the Board in the future.

Ms. Fadullon asked if any correspondence was received prior to the Board meeting. Ms. Imredy Saah
stated there was non.

Ms. Fadullon called for comments from the public. There were none.

Ms. Fadullon called for a motion regarding the proposed disposition.

Ms. Gonzalez moved to approve the disposition. Mr. Johns seconded the motion.

Ms. Imredy Saah then noted that Councilmember Gauthier did submit a letter of support in favor of this
disposition, and the letter had previously been provided to the Board. The letter is attached to these
minutes as Exhibit M. Ms. Imredy Saah also explained that Mr. Goodman assisted this applicant and the
previous applicant with their applications, and the Land Bank ethics guidelines dictated his recusal.

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously approved Resolution Authorizing
Conveyance of 5906 Market Street and 5908 Market Street to ACHIEVEability (attached to these
minutes as Exhibit N).

D. Side/Rear Yards

Mr. Goodman rejoined the meeting at this time.

Mr. Lawrence requested approval to convey 2464 North Natrona Street in the 5th Council District to the
adjacent owner, Cierra Stokes, to be used as a side yard. The property will be subject to a 30-year
mortgage and use restrictions as a side yard.

Ms. Fadullon asked if any correspondence was received prior to the Board meeting. Ms. Imredy Saah
stated none was received.



PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 11 of 133

Ms. Fadullon called for comments from the public. Judith Robinson stated her opposition to the use
restrictions. Bonita Cummings asked about the mortgage. Mr. Lawrence stated the mortgage is for 30
years at a nominal value of $21,999, or $1 less than the appraised value of the property. Mr. Rodriguez
clarified that the mortgage does not require payment and exists to prevent side yard purchasers from re-
selling lots they acquired for $1. Ms. Cummings asked about side yard uses. Mr. Rodriguez stated the
side yards must be fenced in, but that if they become blighted the Land Bank has the ability to retake title
to the property. Cierra Spokes, the applicant, then stated that the property will be used as a side yard for
her young daughter.

Ms. Fadullon called for a motion regarding the proposed disposition.

Mr. Sauer moved to approve the disposition. Ms. Gonzalez seconded the motion.

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously approved the Resolution Authorizing
Conveyance of 2464 North Natrona Street to Cierra S. Stokes (attached to these minutes as Exhibit
O).

Item VI
Public Comment (Old & New Business)

Ms. Fadullon called for comments from the public. There were none.

Item VII
Adjournment

Ms. Fadullon called for a motion to adjourn. Ms. Gonzalez moved to adjourn the meeting. Mr. Johns
seconded the motion.

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously voted to adjourn at 1:03 pm.

Ms. Fadullon stated this would be her final Land Bank Board meeting and thanked the public for their
involvement in the process.

NOTE: Any comments and questions submitted via the Q&A function follow the list of attendees
attached to these minutes.

SECRETARY TO THE BOARD



PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 12 of 133

PUBLIC ATTENDANCE SHEET
PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK BOARD OF DIRECTORS REGULAR MEETING
Tuesday, December 12, 2023, at 10:00 AM, held remotely using Zoom Webinar.



PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 13 of 133

PUBLIC COMMENTS SUBMITTED IN Q&A
PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK BOARD OF DIRECTORS REGULAR MEETING
Tuesday, DECEMBER 12, 2023, at 10:00 AM, held remotely using Zoom Webinar



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 14 of 133



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 15 of 133



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 16 of 133



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 17 of 133



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 18 of 133



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 19 of 133



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 20 of 133



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 21 of 133



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 22 of 133



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 23 of 133



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 24 of 133



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 25 of 133



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 26 of 133



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 27 of 133



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 28 of 133



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 29 of 133



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 30 of 133



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 31 of 133



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 32 of 133



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 33 of 133



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 34 of 133



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 35 of 133



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 36 of 133



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 37 of 133



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 38 of 133



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 39 of 133



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 40 of 133



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 41 of 133



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 42 of 133



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 43 of 133



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 44 of 133



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 45 of 133



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 46 of 133



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 47 of 133



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 48 of 133



Exhibit B

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 49 of 133

RESOLUTION NO. 2023 - 51

RESOLUTION ADOPTING PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK SCHEDULE OF
REGULAR BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETINGS FOR CALENDAR YEAR 2024

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the
Philadelphia Land Bank (the that:

1. For calendar year 2024, the regular meetings of the Board shall be held at 10:00
a.m. Eastern Prevailing Time on the following dates (generally the 2nd Tuesday of each month):

January 16, 2024 (3rd Tuesday) July 16, 2024 (3rd Tuesday)
February 13, 2024 August 13, 2024
March 12, 2024 September 10, 2024
April 9, 2024 October 8, 2024
May 14, 2024 November 12, 2024
June 11, 2024 December 10, 2024 (Annual Meeting)

2. Board Meetings will be held remotely on Zoom, with Board members physically present, visible and
audible in their remote locations. A memorandum explaining the attendance and comment procedures
for participation by members of the public, including a link for attendance, will be published at least
ten (10) days prior to each Board meeting with the agenda on the Philadelphia Land website at
https://phdcphila.org/who-we-are/boards/philadelphia-land-bank-board/.

3. If and when it is determined that in-person or hybrid (in-person and remote) Board Meetings shall
resume, advance public notice will be provided. Once such a determination is made, Board Meetings
will be held in person in the 17th Floor Boardroom at 1234 Market Street, Philadelphia, PA 19107,
with the possible continued option of remote participation via Zoom.

4. Public notice of this schedule shall be given in accordance with the provisions of the Pennsylvania
Sunshine Act, 65 Pa.C.S.A. §§ 701, et seq.

5. The Executive Director, with the advice of Senior Counsel, may modify this Resolution as may be
necessary or desirable to carry out its purposes and intents. The Executive Director or Senior Counsel
will notify the Board of all modifications to this Resolution at the next Board meeting following the
date of such modifications.

6. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board.

Adopted by Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors on December 12, 2023.



Exhibit C

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 50 of 133

2023 Audit Presentation



Exhibit C

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 51 of 133



Exhibit C

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 52 of 133



Exhibit C

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 53 of 133



Exhibit C

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 54 of 133



Exhibit C

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 55 of 133



Exhibit D

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 56 of 133

RESOLUTION NO. 2023 - 52

RESOLUTION ACCEPTING PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK
AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR YEAR ENDING JUNE 30, 2023

WHEREAS, the Land Bank Act, 68 Pa.C.S.A. § 2101, et seq., requires the Philadelphia Land
Bank (the Land Bank to prepare an annual financial audit for submission to the Department of
Community and Economic Development and Philadelphia City Council;

WHEREAS, the Land Bank engaged the audit firm of Mercadien, P.C., Certified Public
Accountants Mercadien to audit the Land financial statements for Fiscal Year 2023;

WHEREAS,
Resolution); and

WHEREAS, the Land Bank Board has reviewed, and desires to accept, the Independent
;

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Philadelphia Land Bank that:

1. The of the Philadelphia Land Bank issued by Mercadien, P.C.,
Certified Public Accountants for Year Ended June 30, 2023, is hereby accepted.

2. Department of Community and
Economic Development and to Philadelphia City Council as required by the Land Bank Act.

3. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board.

Adopted by Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors on December 12, 2023.



Exhibit E

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 57 of 133



Exhibit F

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 58 of 133

RESOLUTION NO. 2023 - 53

RESOLUTION ADOPTING PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK
OPERATING BUDGET FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDING JUNE 30, 2024

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Philadelphia Land Bank Board presented
with the proposed budget for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2024 (attached to this Resolution), which
itemizes the categories and amounts of revenue and expenditures required to fund operations of the

2024 Operating Budget

WHEREAS, Section 309 of the Bylaws of the Philadelphia Land Bank Bylaws requires that
adoption or amendment of the annual budget be approved by a majority of the Board of
(defined in Section 101 of the Bylaws as the total number of Directors the Land Bank would have if there
were no vacancies); and

WHEREAS, the Board deems it necessary and in the best interest of the Land Bank to approve
and adopt the Fiscal Year 2024 Operating Budget, subject to the terms of this Resolution.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the
Philadelphia Land Bank that:

1. The Fiscal Year 2024 Operating Budget, as presented to the Board and attached to this Resolution, is
hereby approved and adopted.

2. The Land Bank staff will provide the Board with quarterly financial reporting comparing actual
expenditures to the Fiscal Year 2024 budgeted expenditures.

3. The Executive Director with the advice of Senior Counsel may modify this Resolution as may be
necessary or desirable to carry out its purposes and intents. The Executive Director or Senior Counsel
will notify the Board of all modifications to this Resolution at the next Board meeting following the
date of such modifications.

4. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board.

Adopted by Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors on December 12, 2023.



Exhibit G

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 59 of 133



Exhibit H

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 60 of 133

RESOLUTION NO. 2023 - 54

RESOLUTION AMENDING RESOLUTIONS 2022-39 AND 2021-52 TO AUTHORIZE
MODIFICATIONOFMIXED-INCOMEHOMEOWNERSHIP DEVELOPMENT TO
MIXED-INCOMEMIXED-USE DEVELOPMENT AND REVISION OF UNITMIX

WHEREAS, Section 16-707 of the Philadelphia Code authorizes the Philadelphia Land Bank
Land Bank

the Land Bank in the form and by the method determined to be in the best interests of the Land Bank,
subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council, and subject further to the terms and
conditions of Chapter 16-404 of the Philadelphia Code;

WHEREAS, pursuant to Resolution 2021-52 adopted on November 9, 2021 and Resolution
2022-39 adopted on October 11, 2022, t Board
2501, 2855 and 2857 Amber Street; 2143, 2155 and 2157 E. Birch Street; 2134 and 2172 E. Cambria
Street; 2103 and 2107 E. Cumberland Street; 2107 E. Dakota Street; 2478 and 2480 Emerald Street; 2022
E. Fletcher Street; 1929, 1935, 1943 and 2215-17 E. Harold Street; 2637, 2639, 2643, 2645 and 2649
Janney Street; 2536 Jasper Street; 2639, 2641, 2643 and 2653 Kensington Avenue; 2068 E. Monmouth
Street; 1844 E. Oakdale Street; 2140, 2151, 2153 and 2156 E. Orleans Street; 2646 and 2658 Ritter Street;
2089 E. Somerset Street; and 2106, 2133, 2135, 2250 and 2252 E. William Street (collectively, the
Property Developer development of forty-three (43) homes,
including twenty-two (22) units to be sold to households with an income at or below 80% (8 units) or
100% (14 units) of AMI and twenty-one (21) units to be sold at market rate;

WHEREAS, the Developer has requested a modification of the plans for the development of
2639, 2641, 2643 and 2653 Kensington Avenue Mixed-Use Properties
homeownership units to eight (8) rental and two (2) commercial units, to facilitate by-right mixed-use
residential development on the Mixed-Use Properties and to better align with development along the
Kensington Avenue corridor;

WHEREAS, in exchange for this modification, the Developer will make seven (7) of the market-
rate homeownership units available to purchasers with a household income at or below 100% AMI,
resulting in a total of eight (8) homeownership units to be sold at or below 80% AMI, seventeen (17)
homeownership units to be sold at or below 100% AMI (which is a net increase of three (3) units),
fourteen (14) homeownership units to be sold at market rate, eight (8) market-rate rental units, and two (2)
commercial units;

WHEREAS, the Board has determined that it is in the best interests of the Land Bank to approve
the modification of the development plans as requested by the Developer;

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the
Philadelphia Land Bank that:

1. The requested modification of the development plans is in the best interests of the Land Bank and
hereby approved, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council.

2. The conveyance of the Property complies with all applicable terms and conditions of Section 16-404
of the Philadelphia Code, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council.



Exhibit H

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 12, 2023 Page 61 of 133

3. Subject to the terms of this Resolution, the Executive Director and Senior Counsel are each hereby
authorized, in the name of and on behalf of the Land Bank, to prepare, execute, deliver, and perform
any and all agreements, deeds, and other documents, as may be necessary or desirable, to consummate

Transaction Documents
and at any time, amend, supplement, and modify the Transaction Documents, or any of them, as may
be necessary or desirable. The Transaction Documents and any amendments, supplements, and
modifications thereto shall contain such terms and conditions as the Executive Director and Senior
Counsel shall deem necessary or appropriate subject to the terms of this Resolution, and, when so
executed and delivered by the Land Bank shall constitute the valid and binding obligations of the
Land Bank.

4. The Executive Director with the advice of Senior Counsel may modify this Resolution as may be
necessary or desirable to carry out its purposes and intents. The Executive Director or Senior Counsel
will notify the Board of all modifications to this Resolution at the next Board meeting following the
date of such modifications.

5. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board.

Adopted by Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors on December 12, 2023.

Philadelphia City Council Resolution No. ___________ dated __________________


